FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/15/2021 11:34 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100301-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division I Case No. 82012-5-I King County Case No. 19-2-06921-0 SEA

HERITAGE OAK MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited liability company, and SHANE DOUGLAS, an individual

Petitioners,

v. FIREGANG, INC. a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Raymond S. Weber WSBA No. 18207 STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S. Attorneys for Petitioners

Stokes Lawrence, P.S. 1420 5th Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 626-6000 Facsimile: (206) 464-1496

#

### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The case involves the question of whether the signature of an individual, identified as "president" of a designated company, bound the signatory to the terms of a contract in his individual capacity.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Firegang seeks to bind an individual to a contract for services signed by a corporation. The Court of Appeals erroneously extended guarantor/guarantee caselaw to circumvent well-established principles of corporate liability to hold Shane Douglas responsible for a corporation's debt because he signed a contract as its President.

On May 27, 2016, Shane Douglas DDS PC, a non-party to this action, entered into a Digital Marketing Agreement ("Agreement") with Respondent Firegang. CP 27. Shane Douglas DDS PC (the "Corporation") is a dental practice that does business

in California as Heritage Oak Dental. CP 180 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 3); CP 250-51 (Douglas Decl. ¶¶ 2-4). Accordingly, on the Agreement the company name was listed as "Heritage Oak Dental (Shane Douglas DDDS [sic] PC)." CP 27 (Agreement).

Shane Douglas digitally signed the Agreement but did so only in his capacity as the President of the Corporation. CP 27 (Agreement); CP 180-81 (Douglas Decl. ¶¶ 3-4). There is only one signature on the Agreement. CP 27 (Agreement).

Following the initial word "Client:", the Agreement provides a space for company name, client's name, and client's title.



Id.

The one-year Agreement automatically renewed every six months. *Id.* On March 29, 2018, the Corporation sought to cancel the Agreement with Firegang. CP 181 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 5). Despite acknowledging the cancellation request, Firegang continued to charge the Corporation through January 2019. CP 184 (Douglas Decl. Ex. A); CP 181 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 6). The Corporation

therefore requested that its credit card company initiate charge backs for the unauthorized charges beginning May 31, 2018. *Id.* 

On March 21, 2019, Firegang served its Washington
Complaint on Shane Douglas, personally, and Heritage Oak
Management LLC, in California, alleging breach of contract due to
the charge backs. See CP 11-14 (Affidavits of Service); CP 1-6
(Compl.). Heritage Oak Management LLC is a California real estate
management entity with no contacts in Washington or connection to
the Agreement. Dr. Douglas contacted the office of Firegang's
counsel by phone multiple times, informing them that the suit was
brought against the wrong defendants. CP 181 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 7).
Believing the issue resolved, neither Dr. Douglas nor Heritage Oak
Management LLC formally appeared in the action. CP 182
(Douglas Decl. ¶ 8).

bill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to the agreement, Shane Douglas DDS PC was required to give Firegang notice of cancellation one month prior to cancellation. CP 27 (Agreement) ("Client acknowledges a 1-month minimum cancellation notice. This means that once the Agreement Terms are fulfilled, whatever month you cancel, your next month will be your final bill."). Shane Douglas DDS PC cancelled in March 2018. CP 181 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 6). Under a plain reading of the Agreement, Firegang's bill for April 2018 should have been the final

Despite being informed that incorrect defendants were being sued—and it being clear on the face of the Agreement that the only parties to the contract were the Corporation d/b/a Heritage Oak Dental and Firegang, CP 27 (Agreement)—in May 2019 Firegang sought a default judgment against Dr. Douglas, personally, and Heritage Oak Management LLC. CP 15-17 (Mtn. for Default). Firegang failed to notify the trial court that the defendants were not parties to the Agreement. *See id.* Without this vital information, the trial court granted the default judgment on May 30, 2019. CP 57-60 (Default Judgment).

In September 2019, Firegang moved to domesticate the Washington judgment in California. CP 222 (lezza Decl. ¶ 6). A California court entered judgment against Dr. Douglas and Heritage Oak Management LLC on August 19, 2019. CP 223 (lezza Decl. ¶ 7). Dr. Douglas initially believed it was just another effort by a collection agency on behalf of Firegang. CP 251 (Douglas Decl. ¶ 11). However, by March 12, 2020, Dr. Douglas learned that it was, in fact, a judgment entered against himself and Heritage Oak Management LLC. *Id.* (¶ 13).

Dr. Douglas and Heritage Oak Management LLC moved in California to set aside the judgment so they would not "be subject

to collection efforts while pursuing" their rights in Washington. CP 245-49 (CA Motion). *Id.* Specifically, they requested that the court "set aside the judgment and allow Defendants to bring a motion to vacate the Sister State Judgment on the basis that it is void as to these Defendants." *Id.* Under the Fair Faith and Credit Doctrine, the California court denied Dr. Douglas and Heritage Oak Management LLC's motion, without reaching the merits of either the breach of contract claim or the validity of the default judgment. CP 254-56 (Order).

On September 3, 2020, Dr. Douglas and Heritage Oak

Management LLC filed a motion in Washington to vacate the May
30, 2019, default judgment as void for lack of jurisdiction. CP 17178. The trial court denied the motion to vacate judgment on October
1, 2020. This is the order from which Dr. Douglas and Heritage Oak

Management LLC appeal. CP 267-68.

The trial court considered extrinsic evidence of Firegang's interpretation of the contract that contradicts its current litigation position. First, in the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that "Firegang and *Defendants* entered into that certain Digital Marketing Agreement dated as of May 27, 2016." CP 002 (emphasis added). This contention - that Dr. Douglas was signing in a corporate capacity -

was the predicate for bringing the lawsuit against Heritage Oak

Management, LLC.<sup>2</sup> ("Defendant Shane Douglas is an individual,

and a principal of Heritage Oak." CP 001 (emphasis added)).

Firegang again asserted that Dr. Douglas signed in a corporate capacity in a sworn declaration filed in support of Plaintiff's motion for default judgment. (The Agreement was "signed by Shane Douglas *for* Heritage Oak Dental (Shane Douglas DDDS PC) . . ." CP 24.)

Third, was evidence of Respondent's position with respect to a functionally identical contract at issue in *Firegang, Inc. v. UDG Management, LLC.*, which contradicts its interpretation of the term "client" and the significance of the description of the signatory's job title. In *UDG*, the same basic Agreement was at issue. The "client" was identified by the company name, the client's name and her title, but she signed the agreement without any indicia of corporate capacity on the signature line.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Presumably, Firegang intended to sue Heritage Oak Dental. If that was in fact its intent, it never corrected the error and continued to litigate against Heritage Oak Management.

#### **Firegang Dental Marketing Agreement**

This is a legal agreement between Firegang Dental Marketing & the Client listed below

Client:			
Company Name: Uni	ited Dental Group		
Client's Name : meli	ssa oh	Client's Title: Branch Man	ager
Marketing Agree	ment Details:		
	new at the end of their term.	reed upon services for the price and term as outlined. There is a <i>minimum notice cancellation policy</i>	
		regang) are considered paid in full when the initial M for the remainder of the Minimum Agreement Term.	
and all disparaging remarks, d	derogatory statements or cor ic or non-confidential statem	ually agree to forbear from making, causing to be m imments made to any party with respect to either of to nent with respect to the any claim or complaint again iment.	them. Further, the parties hereto agree to
Marketing Amount (Mon	thly): \$10000		
All marketing agreements	will auto renew at six mo	hs starting from the first month of marketing at onth increments unless cancelled by the client he same month as this agreement is signed.	
(initial) moh Agreement Terms are fulfi Moh (Initial) moh	_Client acknowledges a lled, whatever month you _ I have read, accept, ar	1 month minimum cancellation notice. This must cancel, your next month will be your final bill not agree to the terms & conditions outlined at	neans that once the Marketing
Client Signature			Date

# CP 119.

Firegang argued that the signature was made in a representative capacity for the entity identified on the "company name" line. Here, the exact same situation is presented; only the names are different. Based upon this identically structured contract, Firegang asserted in its summary judgment in the *UDG* case: "UDG signed a contract promising to pay Firegang \$10,000 per month for

marketing services, for a term of 12 months. UDG failed to do so.

UDG breached the terms of the contract, and summary judgment is warranted." CP0061.

On July 26, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion granting in part and reversing in part<sup>3</sup> the trial court's order denying defendants' motion to vacate the entry of a default judgment.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. The Court of Appeals' decision merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals principally relied upon two factually and legally inapposite cases: *Wilson Court Limited Partnership v. Toni Maroni's, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692 (1998) and *Losh Fam., LLC v. Kertsman*, 155 Wash. App. 458, 463, 228 P.3d 793, 796 (2010).

Both cases rely on principles of guaranty to reach their holdings that an individual signor is liable for a corporate debt. It was an error to extend these holdings to a contract without a guarantor.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's entry of default judgment as to Heritage Oak Management, LLC, a California entity that had no contacts with the State of Washington and was not party to the agreement.

In *Wilson Court*, a company's president signed a lease for a retail space that required a guaranty. The president signed as a guarantor, appending "President" to their name. The president also signed on behalf of the pizza parlor as tenant. When the pizza parlor declared bankruptcy and the landlord sought to hold the guarantor individually liable, the president defended by saying he signed as guarantor in a representative capacity.

The *Wilson* Court relied on the principle that a party cannot be the guarantor of its own contract.

[T]he president's signature creates an ambiguity but we hold he was personally liable because if we were to adopt his interpretation of the guaranty, the corporate tenant would have to be the guarantor of its own lease. Such an interpretation is commercially unreasonable because, as a matter of law, a party cannot be the guarantor of its own contract. We affirm the summary judgment in favor of the landlord on the guaranty.

*Wilson*, 134 Wn.2d at 695.

Losh Family involved a similar signature configuration. The contract "referred five different times to "William and Teresa Grover as individuals, dba Grover International, LLC" as party to the agreement. However, the signature for the assignee was "Grover International, LLC by William Grover member." *Id. at 453.*, 463, 228 P.3d 793, 796 (2010).

The *Losh* case relied upon another guarantee case, *Key v. Cascade Packing Company, Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 579, 576 P.2d 929 (1978), as an "application of a long-established principle that where an agreement contains language binding the individual signer, 'additional descriptive language added to the signature does not alter the signer's personal obligation.' *Tony Maroni's*, 134 Wn.2d at 700, 704, 952 P.2d 590 (1998)." *Id. at* 464.

Here, the Court of Appeals emphasized that term "client" as opposed to "company" appears throughout the Agreement and that when actions by the "client" were called for, such as giving notice of cancellation and providing passwords, these actions were carried out by Dr. Douglas. Opinion at \*4. But unlike Losh, these references are to "client" and not to Dr. Douglas "as [an] individual." The Court's analysis fails to account for the ambiguity created by use of the term "Client:" followed by both the company name, a client name, and a client title. The mere fact that Dr. Douglas performed various obligations under the agreement does not covert him into a party to the Agreement. "A corporation is artificial, invisible, intangible, and existing only in contemplation of law . . . By necessity it acts through its officers, directors, employees, and other agents." Diaz v. Wash. State Migrant Council, 165 Wn. App.

59, 76, 265 P.3d 956 (2011). Nor does Dr. Douglas' signature in his capacity as "president" bind him in an individual capacity. *Revolutionar, Inc. v. Gravity Jack, Inc.*, 36499-2-III, 2020 WL 2042965, at \*14 (Wn. App. Apr. 28, 2020) (unpublished) ("When the corporation appears as the primary signer, the signature is that of the corporation, and when the name or names of one or more of its officers in their official capacity are appended as subscribing agents, the corporation will be regarded as the signer and obligor, and the individuals will not be obligated."); *Diversified Realty, Inc. v. McElroy*, 41 Wn. App. 171, 173–74, 703 P.2d 323 (1985) (quoting 3A W. Fletcher, Private Corporations § 1119 at 170 (1975) ("If personal liability is intended, the 'nearly universal practice' is to have the officer sign twice, once in his corporate capacity and once as an individual.")).

The Court of Appeals did not consider whether the

Agreement was ambiguous and endeavor to resolve the ambiguity
by analysis of extrinsic evidence. Rather it followed the rule derived
from guarantee cases and presumed that the addition of the
signatory's corporate capacity had no bearing on the identity of the
corporate parties. This was error. It strains credulity to conclude

that the agreement in the Wilson case was ambiguous while the agreement in this case is not.

# B. The Court of Appeals' decision merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

RAP 13.4(b)(4) allows review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court. There is substantial public interest in the assurance that a contract binds only those parties that are intended to be bound...

Companies should enjoy predictability and not face a shell game of individual versus corporate liability. At a minimum, outside the guarantor context, this question presents an ambiguity that merits vacating the judgment against Dr. Douglas.

# C. Petitioner requests an award of fees on appeal.

In the event to Court grants review and if he prevails before the Court, Petitioner requests and award of fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(5) which "authorizes an award of reasonable attorney fees to a defendant who, having been hailed into a Washington court under the long-arm statute, 'prevails in the action.'" *Scott Fetzer Co., Kirby Co. Div. v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 112, 786 P.2d 265 (1990)

### V. CONCLUSION

The Court should undertake review of the Court of Appeals' decision to resolve the issues and conflicts discussed above.