# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/29/2021 2:59 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100301-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### HERITAGE OAK MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company, and SHANE DOUGLAS, an Individual

**Defendants-Petitioners** 

v.

FIREGANG, INC., a Washington Corporation

Plaintiff-Respondent

# ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

FIREGANG, INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Callie A. Castillo, WSBA No. 38214 Daniel A. Kittle, WSBA No. 43340 William J. Brunnquell, WSBA No. 54409 LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 Telephone: 206 223 7000

### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion that Shane Douglas personally consented to Washington's jurisdiction when he signed a contract with Firegang and expressly agreed to this State's forum for any disputes over the contract. Firegang, Inc. v. Heritage Oak Mgmt., et al., No. 82012-5-I, 2021 WL 3159842 (Wn. App. July 26, 2021) ("Opinion"). The Opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court. Rather, the Court of Appeals applied well-accepted contract theory to the particular facts of this case to reach its conclusion. Moreover, the issue of whether Washington courts correctly exercised personal jurisdiction over Shane Douglas is not of general interest outside the parties to this controversy. There is simply no need for this Court's review.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Review is not appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) or (4) because the Court of Appeals' Opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any other court and the issue presented

is not of substantial public interest. If this Court were to grant review, the sole issue would be:

Should Firegang's Default Judgment against Douglas be upheld when Washington courts had personal jurisdiction over Douglas through his express consent and satisfaction of Washington's long-arm statute?

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Shane Douglas Agreed to Digital Marketing Services by Firegang

Firegang is a Washington corporation located in Spokane, Washington that provides online dental marketing services specifically designed and tailored for its customers. CP 1, 27-40. On May 27, 2016, Firegang entered into a written Digital Marketing Agreement (the "Digital Marketing Agreement" or "Agreement") with Shane Douglas to provide website, marketing, and advertisement tracking for Douglas' dental practice, Heritage Oak Dental. CP 27. Pursuant to the Agreement, Douglas agreed to pay Firegang an initial setup fee and then monthly fees thereafter for the term of the contract. CP

27. Invoicing for the setup fee occurred in May 2016 and the monthly marketing fees started in August 2016. CP 27.

Douglas acknowledged that the term of the Agreement was for 12 months, with autorenewal in 6 months increments. *Id.*Douglas also acknowledged having "read, accept[ed], and agree[d]" to the terms and conditions of the Digital Marketing Agreement. *Id.*; *see also* CP 28-31 (in effect May 2016 to July 2018); CP 33-40 (effective July 2018 forward)<sup>1</sup> (hereinafter collectively referred as the "Terms and Conditions"). The Terms and Conditions specifically provide:

Client may not terminate the Agreement prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or the then-current Renewal Term, except as set forth in the preceding paragraph. For clarity, should Client terminate this Agreement prior to expiration of the Initial Term or the then-current Renewal Term, Client shall remain liable for all contractually due payments through the expiration of the Initial Term or the then current Renewal Term, as the case may be.

CP 35. "Any notices provided to Firegang under the Agreement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The revised terms were sent to Douglas in July 2018, which he opened after receipt and accepted. CP 203.

and these Terms must be transmitted via email to: admin@firegang.com." CP 39. The Terms and Conditions also specified that the Agreement would be governed by the laws of Washington. CP 39. Further, Douglas agreed under the Terms and Conditions that

[i]f any suit, action or proceeding is filed by any party related to the Agreement or these Terms, venue shall be in the federal or state courts in King County, Washington and each party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in any such suit, action or proceeding.

CP 39 (emphasis added). Finally, Douglas agreed that he would pay Firegang for "all expenses, including, but not limited to, collections costs, all attorneys' fees and expenses, and all other expenses, which Firegang may incur in enforcing Client's payment obligation to Firegang under the Agreement." CP 34.

For more than two years, Firegang provided digital marketing services to Douglas and Heritage Oak. *See* CP 203, ¶ 7. On March 29, 2018, Douglas emailed Firegang Client Service Manager, Britt McDermitt, saying "I would like to finish

my services with firegang [sic] . . . Let me know how to proceed." CP 184. McDermitt immediately responded, providing Douglas with a copy of the Digital Marketing Agreement and Terms and Conditions: "Your contract's end date is July 31, 2018. Billing started July 2016, after 1 year renews at 6 month increments. We would love to chat with you and find out what you are looking for, and how we can make these last three months with Firegang better for you (if you'd still like to leave in July)." CP 184. Douglas did not afterwards send notice to Firegang terminating the Digital Marketing Agreement, but instead continued to communicate with Firegang regarding various services—without any further mention of cancellation. CP 204 ¶ 7.

Firegang continued to provide services to Douglas including but not limited to hosting and updating the website, running Google and Facebook ads, and handling call tracking and auditing for Douglas' dental practice. CP 204 ¶ 7. Douglas continued to accept these contracted-for digital marketing services beyond March 2018 and through November of 2018. CP

204 ¶ 7.

In November and December of 2018, while Firegang continued to provide services to Douglas under the Digital Marketing Agreement and the Terms and Conditions, Douglas initiated charge backs of his monthly payments made after May 31, 2018. CP 24 ¶ 8; CP 181 ¶ 6. In January of 2019, he initiated an additional chargeback. CP 24, ¶ 8. In total, Douglas charged back approximately \$16,500, representing the monthly fees for six months of Firegang's services. CP 204 ¶ 8.

# B. Firegang Acts to Enforce the Digital Marketing Agreement with Douglas

Counsel for Firegang contacted Douglas several times seeking to resolve the dispute over termination and lack of payment. CP 257 ¶ 2. Those communications included sending a copy of the draft complaint to Douglas, which indicated the case would be filed against him and his company Heritage Oak Management in King County, Washington. CP 257 ¶ 2. Despite his later statement to the contrary, CP 181 ¶ 7, Douglas did not inform Firegang's counsel that he believed the lawsuit would be

directed to the wrong parties or object to the venue. CP 257  $\P$  3.

On March 11, 2019, Firegang filed its Complaint in King County superior court for claims of breach of contract and unjust enrichment. CP 1-5. Firegang also sought its attorneys' fees and collection costs as specified in the Terms and Conditions. *See* CP 4, 34. Firegang completed service of process of the Summons and Complaint on both Douglas and Heritage Oak Management on March 21, 2019. CP 11-14. Douglas accepted personal service for himself and for Heritage Oak Management as that entity's registered agent at the address of Douglas' dental practice, Heritage Oak, where Heritage Oak Management is registered. CP 11; CP 13.

More than 60 days after the Summons and Complaint had been served on each of the defendants, neither Douglas nor Heritage Oak filed any appearance or filed any answer in the matter. See CP 41 ¶ 4. Accordingly, on May 30, 2019, Firegang moved for a Default Judgment against Douglas and Heritage Oak Management, which was granted by the superior court. CP 15-

53, 54-60.

Firegang then retained California counsel to domesticate and enforce the Default Judgment. CP 221 ¶ 2. On August 19, 2019, a Sister-State Judgment in the amount of \$29,779.88 was entered against Douglas and Heritage Oak Management in California Superior Court for Placer County. CP 229-30. California counsel served both Douglas and Heritage Oak Management with a "Notice of Entry of Judgment on Sister Court Judgment" on September 16, 2019. CP 222 ¶¶ 4-5; CP 225; CP 227. They each had 30 calendar days from the date of service to oppose entry of the Sister-State Judgment or the Judgment would be final. CP 237. Rather than take any action to oppose entry of the Judgment in California, Douglas and Heritage Oak Management again ignored the proceedings. CP 222-23 ¶¶ 6-8. Firegang's Sister-State Judgment in the amount of \$29,779.88 became fully enforceable. After entry of the Judgment in California, California counsel began collection actions. CP 223 ¶ 8.

At that point, for the first time, Douglas contacted California counsel for Firegang and said he had never heard of Firegang and he had never done business with Firegang. CP 223 ¶ 8. However, when the collection efforts continued, Douglas admitted that he had contracted with Firegang and sought to engage in negotiations with California counsel. CP 223 ¶ 8.

On April 22, 2020, six months after the Default Judgment became final in California, Douglas and Heritage Oak Management filed a "Motion to Set Aside Default," in California Superior Court. CP 242-52. Douglas and Heritage Oak Management argued the Judgment was "void" and should be set aside, based on the contention that "Defendants were not party [sic] to the Agreement upon which the judgment was obtained and had no reason to believe that they were being sued." CP 247. On June 5, 2020, the California Superior Court denied the motion. CP 254-56. The court concluded that California law did not permit it to set aside the default judgment. CP 255. The court further concluded,

even if Code of Civil Procedure section 473(b) did afford potential relief in these circumstances, [Douglas and Heritage Oak Management] fail to establish that their failure to file a timely motion to vacate [default judgment] was based on reasonable mistake, circumstances which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against, or actions of a reasonably prudent person under the same circumstances.

CP 256.

On September 3, 2020, Douglas and Heritage Oak Management then filed another Motion to Vacate—this time in King County Superior Court—seeking another ruling that the judgment was void. CP 171. They again claimed that Firegang's Complaint had been brought against "the wrong defendants," CP 172, and therefore the Default Judgment was void for lack of personal jurisdiction. *See* CP 171-79. Like the California Superior Court, the King County Superior Court denied their motion and ordered that the Default Judgment entered on May 30, 2019, should remain in full force and effect. CP 268.

# C. The Court of Appeals Affirmed Washington Has Jurisdiction Over Douglas

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Default Judgment

against Douglas, but reversed against Heritage Oak Management.<sup>2</sup> See Firegang, 2021 WL 3159842, \*1. Specific to Douglas, the Court applied the manifestation theory of contracts to determine that Douglas' signature on the Agreement and his subsequent conduct with Firegang manifested an objective intent to be personally bound by the contract terms. Id. at \*2-4. The Court of Appeals accordingly held that Washington had personal jurisdiction over Douglas based on his express consent, as well as his specific acts and conduct in the State. *Id.* at \*4-5; see also Id. at \*5, n.53 (finding Douglas' contacts with the state sufficient to exercise personal jurisdiction under RCW 4.28.185). Douglas seeks review by this Court.

#### IV. REASONS TO DECLINE REVIEW

This case does not satisfy the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) for this Court's review. The Court of Appeals applied straightforward authority to the particular facts of this case and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Firegang does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision regarding Heritage Oak Management.

its Opinion is not substantial public interest. Only the parties have interest in whether Shane Douglas personally consented to Washington's jurisdiction when he signed the contract with Firegang and agreed to this State's forum for any disputes over the Agreement. This Court should decline review.

# A. No Conflict Exists With a Decision of This Court or Any Other Court

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) require a showing of an actual conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a decision of this Court or another court.<sup>3</sup> *Cf. Buchsieb/Dandard, Inc. v. Skagit Cty*, 99 Wn.2d 577, 580, 663 P.2d 487 (1983) (granting discretionary review to determine whether Court of Appeals decision conflicted with Supreme Court decision). Douglas, however, asserts that review is warranted because the Court of Appeals purportedly relied on—in Douglas words—"two factually and legally inapposite cases." Pet. at 9. Even if the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Douglas cites only RAP 13.4(b)(1) but also discusses another Court of Appeals case. Firegang presumes he also meant to include RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Court of Appeals did rely on incorrect caselaw—which it did not—such an error would not warrant this Court's review under the requisite criteria. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

The Court of Appeals also did not "extend" the principles of guaranty in this case, as Douglas contends. Pet. at 9. Instead, the Court of Appeals appropriately applied the "objective manifestation theory for contracts" to determine whether Douglas consented to Firegang's contract individually or in a representative capacity. Firegang, 2021 WL 3159842, \*2 (citing P.E. Sys. LLC v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 207, 289 P.3d 638 (2012). Looking at the specific facts of this case, the Court of Appeals determined that Douglas signed the Digital Marketing Agreement with Firegang without indicating he was signing as company representative and that Douglas's conduct with Firegang showed that he acted as the "Client." Id. at \*3-4. The of Appeals thus found "Douglas's "objective Court manifestation of intent" proved he acted in his individual capacity. Id.

As part of its analysis of the facts, the Court of Appeals highlighted two analogous cases as support for its conclusion that Douglas's addition of his title as "President" in one location of the agreement did not overcome the totality of the facts indicating he had signed the agreement in his individual capacity. *Id.* at \*3.

In Losh Family, LLC v. Kertsman,—like Douglas did here—the appellant contended "that only his limited liability company is bound by an assignment of lease Grover signed as a member of the company." 155 Wn. App. 458, 461, 464, 228 P.3d 793 (2010). The Court of Appeals in Losh Family—like the Court of Appeals did here—concluded that the "form of [appellant's] signature" in one location did not alter the unambiguous language of the contract. Id. The contract at issue referenced the appellant's "individual capacity" five different times. Id. at 463. In this case, Douglas signed as the "Client" without indicating it was in a representational capacity and which term was repeatedly referenced throughout the contract

document for liability purposes. *See Firegang*, 2021 WL 3159842, \*3-4.

In Wilson Court Limited Partnership v. Tony Maroni's, *Inc.*, the Court held "a signature on a guaranty with additional words that are *descriptio personae* generally binds the individual who signed the agreement unless the signature creates an ambiguity as to who is bound." 134 Wn.2d 692, 695, 952 P.2d 590 (1998). In reaching that conclusion, however, this Court applied the "objective manifestation test for contracts" to the agreements at issue because a "guaranty is a contract subject to these general rules regarding contract formation." *Id.* at 699. In other words, this Court did not apply special signatory rules because the matter involved a guaranty; rather it applied the rules because the guaranty was a contract. See id. at 700 (collecting cases).

The Court found the agreement in *Wilson Court* to be ambiguous as to whether the signor intended to be personally liable based on the specific formation of the contract. *Id.* at 704-

05. It went on to find the signor individually liable after applying various contract and equitable principles, including that the appellant created the ambiguity himself by adding the descriptive language of his title to the signature line. *Id.* at 705-10. The Court further noted that liability could have easily been avoided: "If Riviera did not intend personal liability, he should have said so." *Id.* at 710. That was the case here.

Unlike in *Wilson Court*, the Court of Appeals below concluded that the Agreement with Firegang was unambiguous as to who was the "Client" and who had contracted for Firegang's services: Shane Douglas. *Firegang*, 2021 WL 3159842, \*3-4. Like in *Wilson Court*, however, the Court of Appeals found that the "mere presence" of Douglas's title and the company name adjacent to his name on the Agreement did not manifest an objective intent that Douglas intended to sign only as company representative. *Id.* at \*4. If Douglas had intended otherwise, he should have said expressly said so.

Moreover and contrary to Douglas's argument, Pet. at 12,

the Court of Appeals did look to extrinsic evidence to determine whether Douglas evidenced an intent to bind himself or only his company. See id. \*4, n.47 (citing authority providing that courts may consider extrinsic evidence of subsequent conduct to determine the intent of the parties). Looking at Douglas's communications and actions with Firegang, the Court of Appeals correctly found that "Douglas's subsequent conduct show[ed] he acted as the 'Client.'" Id. at \*4. Such conduct is markedly unlike the cases relied on by Douglas where the facts were plainly different. See Revolutionar, Inc. v. Gravity Jack, Inc., No. 36499-2-III, 2020 WL 2042965, \*14 (Wn. App. April 28, 2020) ("No language in the design and development resourcing contract suggests that Joshua Roe bound himself to its terms.")<sup>4</sup>; Diversified Realty, Inc. v. McElroy, 41 Wn. App. 171, 175, 703 P.2d 323 (1985) (fact that McElroys acknowledged lease in their

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Douglas cited this unpublished opinion at page 12 of its Petition. The case should be given only such persuasive value as the Court deems appropriate. GR 14.1.

corporate, but not personal capacities, would not preclude their liability).

In sum, the Court of Appeals applied well-established contract principles to the specific facts of this case. Further review is not warranted.

## B. This Case Does Not Involve Issues of Substantial Public Interest

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is also not warranted. The Court of Appeals applied the same objective manifestation theory to the Agreement at issue here that courts would apply to any contract. The case law to which the Court of Appeals' analogized did the same. There is nothing of substantial public interest in the Opinion. It is of interest only to the parties, despite Douglas' feeble attempt to claim otherwise.

# C. Firegang is Entitled to its Reasonable Attorneys' Fees under RAP 18.1(j)

Firegang prevailed against Douglas in the Court of Appeals and was awarded its reasonable attorneys' fees. *Firegang*, 2021 WL 315982, \*6. For the reasons discussed in this

Answer, this Court should deny review of Douglas's petition. It should also award Firegang its reasonable attorneys fees' and expenses under RAP 18.1(j) for having to Answer the Petition.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Shane Douglas purposefully availed himself of this State's jurisdiction when he signed the Agreement with Firegang as the client and he purposefully transacted business here. The Court of Appeals appropriately determined the facts drove the outcome and used analogous contract case law to show why. No further review is necessary.

This document contains 3,123 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.